
 

 

 

EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE 
 
FRIDAY, 18 JULY 2025 
 
3.00 PM 
 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, FENLAND HALL, 
MARCH 

Committee Officer: Linda Albon  
Tel: 01354 622424 

e-mail: memberservices@fenland.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 
 

1   Appointment of Chairman for the Municipal Year  
 

2   To receive apologies for absence  
 

3   Appointment of Vice-Chairman for the Municipal Year  
 

4   Previous minutes (Pages 3 - 6) 
 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held 12 September 2024.  
 

5   To report additional items for consideration which the Chairman deems urgent by 
virtue of the special circumstances to be now specified.  
 

6   To receive members' declaration of any interests under the Local Code of Conduct or 
any interest under the Code of Conduct on Planning Matters in respect of any item to 
be discussed at the meeting  
 

7   Domestic Abuse Support (employee) Policy and Procedure (Pages 7 - 36) 
 
For members to review policy and procedures outlining how the Council will support 
staff who are survivors of domestic abuse.   
 

8   Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 (Pages 37 - 52) 
 
This report provides the Employment Committee with an overview of the Council’s 
Health & Safety Annual Report for 2024/25.   
 

9   Items which the Chairman has under Item 5 deemed urgent  

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
CONFIDENTIAL - ITEMS COMPRISING EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
To exclude the public (including the press) from a meeting of a committee it is necessary for 
the following proposition to be moved and adopted: “that the public be excluded from the 
meeting for Items which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) as indicated.” 
 

10   Economic Growth Service - Confidential (Pages 53 - 70) 
 
To provide the Employment Committee with a proposal in respect of the future 
structure of the Economic Growth Service. 
 

Thursday, 10 July 2025 
 
Members:  Councillor I Benney, Councillor G Christy, Councillor J Clark, Councillor Mrs M Davis, 

Councillor A Gowler, Councillor S Imafidon and Councillor Dr H Nawaz 



 
 

EMPLOYMENT 
COMMITTEE 

 

 
THURSDAY, 12 SEPTEMBER 2024 - 4.00 
PM 
 
PRESENT: Councillor G Christy (Chairman), Councillor Dr H Nawaz (Vice-Chairman), Councillor 
I Benney, Councillor J Clark, Councillor Mrs M Davis and Councillor A Gowler 
 
Officers in attendance: Sam Anthony (Head of HR and OD), Aarron Locks (Shared Service CCTV 
Manager) and Jo Goodrum (Member Services & Governance Officer) 
 
EC1/24 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN FOR THE MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Nawaz, seconded by Councillor Mrs Davis and resolved that 
Councillor Gary Christy be elected as the Chairman of the Employment Committee for the 
Municipal Year 2024/25.  
 
EC2/24 PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the previous meeting of 7 August 2024 were agreed and signed. 
 
Sam Anthony stated that at the previous meeting the committee had asked for an update to be 
provided with regards to the recruitment situation in the Planning department. She advised that, 
since last October, there has been quite a successful recruitment process with no further 
resignations from the planning team, with the following posts now being filled and officers have 
taken up their role: 
 

• Head of Planning 
• Two Senior Planning Officers 
• Planning Policy Manager 
• Planning Policy Officer 
• Section 106 Officer 
• Enforcement Officer 

 
Sam Anthony explained that there are still four vacancies, which are being pursued, as follows: 
 

• Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 
• Senior Planning Officer 
• Principal Planning Officer 
• Tree Officer 

 
She explained that the adverts for the vacancies remain live on the Council’s website and on the 
social media channels along with the Municipal Journal publication who are supporting the 
council’s recruitment adverts.  
 
Sam Anthony added that the new Head of Planning, Matthew Leigh, is currently reviewing working 
practices to incorporate some emerging ideas and practices on the reduction of contract staff 
within the planning service. 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



EC3/24 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN FOR THE MUNICIPAL YEAR 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Christy, seconded by Councillor Gowler and resolved that Councillor 
Nawaz be elected as the Vice-Chairman of the Employment Committee for the Municipal Year 
2024/25.  
 
EC4/24 HEALTH AND SAFETY ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 

 
Members considered the Health and Safety Annual report presented by Sam Anthony. 
 
Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows: 

• Councillor Nawaz asked what the prognosis was for the 2 members of staff who fell from 
height? Sam Anthony explained that they were not injuries sustained as a result from a fall 
from a great height but were injuries as a result of staff not using the 3 points of contact 
system as they exited a works vehicle and that is classed as a fall from height. She added 
that one member of staff had an absence which was longer than 7 days and, therefore, that 
was then reportable. 

• Councillor Dr Nawaz referred to the increase in accidents which has occurred over the last 
year rising from 18 to 26 which is an increase of 44% which is a quite significant increase. 
He asked for an explanation with regards to what preventative steps have been taken to 
reduce those numbers? Sam Anthony explained that every accident is fully investigated by 
the individuals Line Manager where the cause of the accident is identified and decided 
whether it could have been prevented and where there is a need for remedial training or 
guidance or coaching then that is delivered. She added that in some cases staff members 
will be retrained or readvised dependent on the circumstances and cause of the accident or 
incident. Sam Anthony explained that any accidents such as the road traffic accident 
caused by the sinkhole or potholes are reported to the County Council and all staff are 
advised to be aware of their surroundings as and when they are out on the highway. 

• Councillor Nawaz asked for clarity with regards to whether that procedure has been 
followed and is it documented? Sam Anthony confirmed that it has been documented as 
part of the accident investigation and attached to the accident report. She added that every 
single action is documented and delivered at the time and checks maybe undertaken 
following a three-month period to ensure that the learning has been transferred and the staff 
member is continuing to demonstrate the required behaviours. Sam Anthony explained that 
health and safety issues are also considered at the toolbox talks that the Operations 
Manager delivers to those who work in the refuse and cleansing environment. 

• Councillor Nawaz stated that he has noticed in the Business Centre that there is only one 
qualified first aider and he asked how that is covered if that individual is on holiday or is 
absent through sickness? Sam Anthony stated that the staff members are emergency first 
aid trained and there is no requirement to have a first aider on site. She explained that if the 
member of staff is not on site there are first aid facilities and anybody who is operating the 
business centre would be required to call the emergency services if there is the need to. 

• Councillor Benney stated that, as much as the figures have increased, a lot of the accidents 
are unavoidable. He made the point that a sink hole is a rare occurrence and accidents 
involving potholes can happen to anybody and as much as the figures are raised, whilst it is 
not what ideal, accidents are being reported. Councillor Benney expressed the view that the 
mitigation measures that are in place are being carried out very well and include the 
investigation, training and checking that the knowledge has been imparted to the staff. 

• Councillor Benney stated that the RAG register is green and, in his view, the procedures 
and policies that are in place are working. He expressed the view that in a perfect world it 
would be nice to have no accidents or trips, however, they do happen. 

• Councillor Christy stated that when the report was reviewed last year it was highlighted that 
a lot of the near misses where not being recorded. He added that it is not good that the 
figures have increased but it is providing valuable data to be able to identify where 
mitigations can be put in place. Councillor Christy added that it is a very good report and the 

Page 4



effort that the team makes to ensure that the employees are all safe and looked after should 
in his view be applauded. 

• Councillor Gowler stated that with regards to near misses according to the data there is only 
one near miss, and he added that he has raised this previously that staff members need to 
be encouraged to report near misses. Sam Anthony stated that reporting of near misses is 
very important, and this was raised by the Health and Safety Panel at a recent meeting 
where all team members have been asked to promote the reporting of them. She made the 
point that it is not about blame it is about learning and educating including the education of 
what a near miss is and she added that a process for the promotion and educating people 
with regards to near misses will be undertaken shortly. 

• Councillor Gowler added that he has witnessed waste collection staff in other authorities 
running in order to collect bins and he asked whether the accidents which have taken place 
by our waste collection staff are as of a consequence of the staff being pushed and rushing 
to undertake their duties and then not looking where they are going. He added that he 
would like to think that the staff are given adequate time to undertake their role without 
having to run. Sam Anthony explained that at Fenland a task and finish approach used to be 
in operation 13 years ago, however, that operating module was abolished. She added that 
in some local authorities especially where they outsource as soon as staff finish, they can 
go home which is why you often see people running. Sam Anthony explained that this 
authority operates a team and finish model which is where the staff all start and finish at the 
same time and also have scheduled hours. She made the point that the staff are not being 
pushed and the majority of the staff take a great deal of pride in the work that they 
undertake, and the customer feedback received is testament to that. 

• Councillor Clark stated that he holds the same views as Councillor Benney and added that 
there does not appear to be a chain of events when considering the accidents and they all 
appear just to be one off incidents. He added that he is quite content with the report. 

• Councillor Mrs Davis stated that staff are given training so that they know that accidents 
should be reported, and the accident figures will eventually level out, but she is pleased to 
see the data which provides a true reflection. 

• Councillor Mrs Davis stated that when considering fire safety, how do the fire wardens know 
who is on site. Sam Anthony stated that the evacuation procedures were reviewed during 
the Covid lockdown period, with there no longer being dedicated Fire Marshalls as 
everybody is now trained and the building is broken down into zones. She added that in the 
event of an evacuation a member of staff will assume responsibility for the Fire Warden role 
and ensure that their relevant zone is clear of staff. Sam Anthony explained that staff 
assemble in the car park and the appointed Fire Warden reports to the controller to advise 
that their relevant zone is clear, and that information is then passed to the Fire Service 
should they need to be called.  

• Councillor Mrs Davis stated that statistics prove that many people who now work at home 
are now suffering from repetitive strain injury due to their working environment. She added 
that with regards to the display screen equipment assessment she is aware that staff 
undertake e-learning, but she questioned whether staff are actually signed off to confirm 
that they have understood the training and associated risks. Sam Anthony stated that every 
single member of staff has to update their DSE assessment on an annual basis which 
includes the desk they use in the office and the desk that they use at home. She explained 
that the staff member completes the same process for both locations and confirm that they 
are happy and then their line manager signs it off and a copy is kept on their personal file. 

 
Proposed by Councillor Mrs Davis, seconded by Councillor Benney and AGREED to note 
the Council’s Health and Safety performance for 2023/24. 
 
 
 
 
4.30 pm                     Chairman 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
1 Purpose / Summary 
1.1 The Housing Options Team is working towards Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance 

(DAHA) accreditation for the council. The process entails evidencing our approach to 
domestic abuse survivors including producing relevant policy 

1.2 There is a requirement under DAHA accreditation that we will produce a policy and 
procedures outlining how we will support staff who are survivors of domestic abuse. The 
current procedures have been developed into a policy to meet the requirements and has 
been approved by Management Trade Union & Staff Partnership (MTSP).  

1.3  
2 Key Issues 
2.1 As part of the development of the policy, we carried out consultation with the Domestic 

Abuse Champions staff group, along with domestic abuse survivors with lived 
experience.  All agreed with the content of the document and were happy for it to be 
published on our intranet once approved. 

2.2 There are no financial resource implications in relation to implementing this policy. The 
service has been working to the policy as a procedure for some time. 

 

3 Recommendations 
3.1 Agreement is sought from Employment Committee to agree the policy 
 
Wards Affected All 

Forward Plan Reference N/A 

Portfolio Holder(s) Councillor Samantha Hoy 

Report Originator(s) Sarah Gove Housing & Communities Manager 

Contact Officer(s) Sarah Gove 
Sgove@fenland.gov.uk 01354 622372 

Background Papers N/A 

 
 
 

Agenda Item No: 7  

Committee: Employment Committee 

Date:  18 July 2025 

Report Title: Domestic Abuse Support (employee) policy and procedure 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Sgove@fenland.gov.uk


 

4 BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES 
 
4.1 The Housing Options Team is working towards Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance 

(DAHA) accreditation for the council. The process entails evidencing our approach to 
domestic abuse survivors including producing relevant policy 

4.2 The accreditation will demonstrate how the council reaches and practices a range of 
standards when supporting and advising clients experiencing domestic abuse 

4.3 The intended outcome is to publish the document on the council’s intranet and to be 
available to all staff and managers for both awareness raising and support to teams. 

4.4 Training is being undertaken by all staff as part of our corporate training schedule.   
 

5 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 The policy concerned is the Domestic Abuse Support (employee) policy and procedure. 
5.2 The policy and procedure is a guide for staff and managers to support colleagues who 

are experiencing domestic abuse.     
5.3 The document is based on good practice and meets the criteria set out by DAHA.  The 

accreditation process requires the document to be policy and procedures as opposed to 
procedures.  The current version was approved by MTSP on 29 July 2024 with the 
content unchanged.  

5.4 Training has been launched as part of a suite of mandatory training to be undertaken by 
all staff.  Two other levels of training have been undertaken by the council Domestic 
Abuse Champions (level 2 – intermediate) - and level 3 (advanced) by the council’s 
Housing Options Team.  

5.5 The policy and procedures will be reviewed in 3 years or before in response to legislative 
changes or good practice. As part of the review the Council will understand any learning 
from when the Policy has been utilised. 

  CONSULTATION 
4.1 As part of the development of the document, we carried out consultation with the 

Domestic Abuse Champions staff group, along with domestic abuse survivors with lived 
experience.  All agreed with the content of the document and were happy for it to be 
published on our Intranet once approved. 

4.2      A separate document aimed at residents has been produced and has been considered 
by the groups above.  The Residents policy will be considered for approval by Cabinet on 
21 July 2025.  

 
 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
5.6 No alternative options were considered  

6 IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Legal Implications 

Page 8



There are no legal implications for this policy, although our accreditation reflects best 
practice when a survivor of Domestic Abuse contacts our Housing Options service for 
help. This therefore reduces the likelihood of legal challenge with homelessness 
legislation linked to Domestic Abuse cases. 

 
6.2 Financial Implications 

There are no financial implications for this policy. There are no financial resource 
implications in relation to implementing this policy. The service has been working to the 
policy as a procedure for some time. 
 
 

6.3 Equality Implications 
Schedule A  is the Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 
 
7 SCHEDULES 
 

• Schedule A – Equality Impact Assessment 
• Schedule B –Domestic Abuse Support (employee) policy and procedure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010 
APPENDIX A              

INTRODUCTION 
 
The Equality Act 2010 reminded all public authorities of their duty to have ‘due regard’ to 
the need to: 
 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by the Act: 

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it; and 

• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it. 

 
The protected groups (previously known as equality strands) are as follows: 
 

• Age 
• Disability 
• Gender reassignment 
• Pregnancy and maternity 
• Race 
• Religion or belief 
• Gender 
• Sexual orientation 
• Marriage and civil partnerships (eliminate unlawful discrimination only) 
Other legislation and practice has determined that we extend this to cover: 
 

• Human Rights 
• Socio Economic factors 

 
The duty reminds us of the need to analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  
 
The equality analysis should be proportionate and relevant – not just a tick box exercise. In 
some cases the written record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each 
heading. Others will need a more detailed explanation.  
 
However, legal case law makes it clear that we must carry out the analysis before making 
the relevant policy decision.  
 
A meaningful equality analysis will help the Council make the best decisions or formulate a 
policy which best meets our customers needs. 
 
Once a Customer Impact Assessment (replacing our existing Equality Impact Assessment) 
has been completed there is no need to automatically carry out a new assessment each 
year.  A review assessment has been put in place, and can be completed if there has been 
no change to the original policy, the way it’s implemented and its customer impact. 
 

Page 10



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010 
 
A SIMPLE GUIDE TO ASSESSING EQUALITY 
 
What is Customer Impact Assessment (CIA)? 
 

• CIA is the act of systematically assessing the likely (or actual) effects of policies or 
services on people based on the following: 

   
• Age 
• Disability 
• Gender reassignment 
• Pregnancy and maternity 
• Race 
• Religion or belief 
• Gender 
• Sexual orientation 
• Marriage and civil partnerships 
• Human Rights 
• Socio Economic factors 

 
This means considering the above, as set out in the table below, in relation to a policy, 
practice or service, before a decision is made. 
 
PLEASE SEE EXPLANATIONS BELOW 

 
 
 
 
 

Eliminating 
unlawful 
discrimination, 
harassment and 
victimisation 

Advancing equality 
of opportunity 
between different 
groups 

Fostering good 
relations between 
different groups 

Disability 
 

   

Age 
 

   

Pregnancy/ 
maternity/ 
paternity 

   

Race 
 

   

Religion or belief 
 

   

Sex/ Gender 
 

   

Gender 
reassignment/ 
Transgender 

   

Sexual 
orientation 

   

Human  
Rights 

   

Socio Economic 
Factors 

   

Marriage and 
civil 

partnerships 

   

Page 11



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010 
 
 
• You are looking for opportunities to promote equality, and good relations between 

all groups as well as removing or mitigating negative or adverse impacts. 
• Remember it might not be possible to remove all barriers to service, or your policy 

or practice may have a negative impact on certain groups … please note anything 
of this nature 

 
  

Why is it important? 
 

• Assessing equality issues helps us understand the needs of our customers, 
ensures our decisions meet those needs, and are also cost effective, and 
demonstratable. 
 

• As a public authority we also have a legal duty to show “due regard” for equality in 
decision making and the way services are provided 

 
• To be able us to show “due regard”, we need to show that consideration of [possible 

impact to the groups mentioned have taken place prior to a decision being made; 
that equality issues were considered, and that this consideration was rigorous, open 
minded, and involved thinking about the three arms of the Equality Act as part of 
this process, and that potential adverse impacts were either removed or reduced, 
and that all our decisions can be defended if challenged. 

 
• Documenting our equality analysis enables the Council to show it has had “due 

regard” for equality if decisions are challenged. If “due regard” for equality can not 
be shown, decisions may be overturned at judicial review. This could result in lost 
time, money and negative publicity. 

 
• The sooner equality is considered in a process; the more efficiently that process 

can be carried out. 

Page 12



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010 
 

 
 
 
 
How can equality be assessed? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Gather information This can be consulting with relevant groups, using a previous EqIA as 
a starting point, consultations carried out by other services, details of the service ‘hard to 
reach groups’, customer satisfaction surveys, MOASIC data, consider relevance to equality 
 
 

2. Assess impact Could different groups be affected differently? Is this difference positive or 
negative? Consider the three arms of the Equality Act in relation to all the protected groups as 
per the table. NOTE: The quality of the assessment will depend on the quality of the 
information gathered 

3. Take action This could be to reduce negative or increase positive impact. Produce an 
action plan where appropriate; make actions SMART. Unlawful discrimination MUST be 
actioned immediately 

4. Summarise your findings on the EqIA form. Where it is clear from initial information 
gathering that a policy will not have any effect on equality, this may simply be a sentence 
recording this; the greater the relevance to equality, the greater the level of detail required. 
Publish your findings 

5. Monitor the on-going effects of the policy on equality. This is usually in the form of the 
annual review carried out in October of each year, to fit in with the service planning cycle. The 
Equality Act is a continuing duty! 

Page 13



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010 
Customer Impact Assessment   
Name and brief description of policy being analysed 
Briefly summarise the policy including any key information such as aims, context etc; note timescales and milestones for new policies; use plain language – NO JARGON; 
refer to other documents if required 
 
The council is undertaking a Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance accreditation.  This is a national accreditation and is being lead by 
the council’s Housing Options team.   Part of the requirement to achieve the accreditation is  to produce two policies and 
procedures to inform both external customers on our website and internal staff colleagues via the council’s  intranet of types of 
abuse and  the support available.    
 
Information used for customer analysis 
Note relevant consultation; who took part and key findings; refer to, or attach other documents if needed; include dates where possible 
 
The strategy and action plan have consulted on for the statutory 10 weeks consultation process – the responses have been captured in a table 
and relevant feedback has been captured and incorporated within the strategy and action plan.   
 
Potential cultural barriers have been addressed e.g. Modern slavery under the Cambridgeshire County Council’s statutory duty  
 
     
 
 Could 

particularly 
benefit 

Neutral 
May 

adversely 
impact 

Explanations 
Is action 

possible or 
required? 

Details of actions or explanations if 
actions are not possible 
 
Please note details of any actions 
to be placed in your Service Plan 
 

Race 
 
 
 

□ x □ 
 
 
 
 
Women are more likely to suffer 
domestic abuse than men, 
however the policies cover both 
men and women and same sex 
relationships. The policies link 

 N 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sex 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 x □  N P
age 14



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010 
 
 
 

to the council’s Safeguarding 
vulnerable adults policy also. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gender reassignment/ 
Transgender □ x □  N 

Disability- physical 
 □ x □  N 

Age 60+  
 
 
 
 
 

 x □  N 

Younger people (17-25) and 
children (0-16) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 x  N 

Sexual orientation 
 
 
 

□ x □  N 

Religion or belief 
 
 
 

□ x □  N 

Pregnancy, maternity and 
paternity 
 
 

□ x □  N P
age 15



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010 
Marriage & civil partnership □ x □   N 

Human Rights  x    N  

Socio Economic 
 x   N  

 
Multiple/ Cross Cutting 

 x   N  
 

Outcome(s) of customer analysis 
 
 
a) Will the policy/ procedure impact on the whole population of Fenland and/ or identified groups within the population; negative   neutral    positive   x 
 

No major change needed  x           Adjust the policy  □                 Adverse impact but continue □                 Stop and remove / reconsider policy □ 
Arrangements for future monitoring: 
Note when analysis will be reviewed; include any equality indicators and performance against those indicators 2029 
 
Details of any data/ Research used (both FDC & Partners): 
 
The policies have both been consulted on with survivors with lived experience and the council’s Domestic Abuse champions staff group  
Completed by: 
 
Name: Sarah Gove 
 
Position: Housing & Communities Manager 
 
 
Approved by (manager signature):  
 

Date published: This should be the date the analysis was published on the intranet 
 

Details of any Committee approved by (if applicable): 
 
 

Date endorsed by Members if applicable: 

 P
age 16



1 

People Policies 

Domestic Abuse Support (Employee) Policy & Procedure 

1.0 Code of Practice Statement and Overview 

Fenland District Council commits to ensuring it deals with all staff affected by 
domestic abuse in a sensitive manner and a non-judgemental way.  

This applies to everyone who is experiencing or has experienced domestic abuse. 
Employees have the right to raise the issue with the council and for their concerns to 
be met effectively, sympathetically and in confidence. However, there are some 
limited circumstances where confidentiality cannot be assured, as outlined in this 
policy and procedure. 

This document sets out ways the council will support people affected by abuse and 
to hold the person causing harm to account. The council has a corporate 
Safeguarding Policy which provides an overarching framework for all safeguarding 
matters. This Policy should be read in conjunction with that Safeguarding Policy. 
https://intranet.fenland.gov.uk/article/16842/Safeguarding-Policy  

The council has also agreed to work with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Safeguarding Partnership board, to work within its safeguarding policy guidelines 
and procedures. The council also has a specific policy for supporting residents 
experiencing domestic abuse. 

This document links to other staff policies/procedures (e.g., compassionate leave, 
sickness, maternity, women’s health, staff misconduct, anti-bullying, whistleblowing, 
Data Protection and the council’s wellbeing
service).https://intranet.fenland.gov.uk/article/16807/People-Policies 

2.0 Introduction 

Domestic abuse refers to abusive behaviours which take place between two people 
aged over 16 who are personally connected to each other. This includes people who 
are, or have previously been married, in civil partnerships or in relationships, or have 
a child together, or are relatives. 

The 2021 Domestic Abuse Act states that abuse can be a single incident, but is often 
a pattern of behaviours, and it takes many forms: 

• Online
• Psychological
• Physical
• Sexual
• Emotional
• Verbal
• Economic

Schedule B

Page 17



 
 

 2 

People Policies 

• Coercive and controlling behaviour 
 
Anyone can experience domestic abuse, and those causing harm can be any 
gender. Statistics show that women are disproportionately affected by domestic 
abuse as the majority of people causing harm are men. This could also be down to 
men not reporting domestic abuse. It takes place at all levels of society, regardless 
of class, race, religion, gender identity, sexuality or disability. The individuals who 
experience abuse are often affected by it long after they have left the situation.  
 
Domestic abuse is a hugely destructive problem. We have a collective responsibility 
to tackle it. Employers have an important role to play in society’s response. Some 
staff may who are experiencing domestic abuse are also targeted at work. For 
others, the workplace can be a safe haven and provide a route away from harm. A 
job can provide economic independence that helps people plan a route out to rebuild 
their lives. Colleagues and managers can often be the only other people outside the 
home that survivors talk to each day, therefore, they are uniquely placed to help spot 
signs of abuse. 
 
It should be noted people causing harm could use workplace resources to threaten, 
harass or abuse current or former partners. Work colleagues may also be affected 
and face direct threats or intimidation from people causing harm or have to cover for 
workers who are experiencing domestic abuse and may be aware that abuse is 
taking place but not know how to help. The connection between the workplace and 
domestic abuse is therefore often complex. 
 
3.0 Code of Practice Aims  
 
The code of practice aims to: 
 

• help support our employees and contribute to tackling domestic abuse. 
• offer guidance on steps to take, measures to put in place and how to 

respond when an employee discloses abuse. 
• set out steps to follow and help you choose the best free resources for you 

and your team. 
• signpost to external organisations for advice and support to employers and 

employees. 
• focus on abuse from intimate partners, adult children and abusive carers. 

Other forms of domestic abuse and violence are outside of its scope. This 
includes crimes in the name of ‘honour,’ human trafficking, and sexual 
exploitation, and female genital mutilation. There are links to organisations 
that specialise in these forms of abuse in the appendix. 

 
The Council will deal constructively, compassionately and sympathetically with cases 
of domestic abuse. We want to create a safe space for all employees to feel 
confident in disclosing abuse. We want managers to be alert to the signs of abuse 
and be confident in how to respond to that situation. 
 

Page 18



 
 

 3 

People Policies 

 
Advice can be sought from your line manager, a member of the HR team, Mental 
Health First Aiders, First Aiders, Domestic Abuse Champions, or the Housing 
Options team. They can provide initial support and signpost you to resources. They 
can help you with any disclosure conversations you would like to have with your 
colleagues. https://intranet.fenland.gov.uk/firstaid 
 
It is your choice who you speak to, the most important thing is that you reach out to 
someone for support.  
 
Whomever you do speak to will link in with your line manager or HR to work with you 
to plan a response including discussing and agreeing ways to help you stay safe at 
work, directing you to the appropriate domestic abuse resources and facilitating 
referrals. 
 
3.1 Confidentiality and Security 
 
The council recognises that employees experiencing domestic abuse normally have 
the right to complete confidentiality.  Where an employee discusses with their line 
manager, alternative line manager, Mental Health First Aider, First Aider, HR contact 
or Domestic Abuse champion or Housing Options Team that they are experiencing 
domestic abuse, confidentiality will be maintained as far as possible.  However, in 
some extreme circumstances this confidence may need to be broken for example to 
protect children or vulnerable adults where high risk to safety has been identified, or 
where we need to act to protect the safety of members of the public, including other 
colleagues. 
 
The manager needs to be satisfied that appropriate steps are being taken to protect 
any dependent children or vulnerable adults. If they are not satisfied, they should 
make a referral to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Safeguarding Partnership 
board and the employee should be made are of this fact.  
 
Find Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Safeguarding Partnership board at: 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Safeguarding Partnership web page 
(https://safeguardingcambspeterborough.org.uk/concerned/professionals-reporting-
a-concern/) 
 
If a person causing harm is placing their partner or family member(s) in danger, then 
this may be reported to the police. This will be subject to prior discussion with the 
employee, wherever it is reasonably practical to do so.  
 
Managers have a duty to maintain a safe environment for all staff and this could be 
made easier if colleagues are aware of potential risks. However, it is essential that 
you agree with the individual concerned what information to tell colleagues. 
Managers should remind staff that this information is confidential. 
 

Page 19

https://safeguardingcambspeterborough.org.uk/concerned/professionals-reporting-a-concern/


 
 

 4 

People Policies 

The consequences of breaching confidentiality could have serious effects for the 
person experiencing domestic abuse. Any unauthorised breaches of this could be 
subject to disciplinary action being taken.  
 
In agreement with the employee, a confidential written summary of discussions and 
agreed outcomes will be kept in a secure location.  These records will only be 
retained for as long as is necessary to resolve the incident and/or support the 
employee with the issues they are experiencing.  The record will not form part of 
routine management/personnel records.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
 

 5 

People Policies 

Appendix 1 
 
 
1.0 Guidance 
 

a) Understanding the issue – spotting the signs 
 
Abuse if often associated with physical violence, but it takes many forms. It is 
important to raise awareness to enable colleagues to spot it. There is an increasing 
public awareness of psychological, emotional, financial and other coercive forms of 
domestic abuse. Employers can pay a role in educating their workforce about 
domestic abuse.  
 
If most work meetings happen virtually, physical symptoms of abuse may be 
masked. It may also reduce the potential for employers and work colleagues to 
notice changes in behaviour. This may include nervousness or a new reticence to 
engage in conversation. 
 
By identifying that an employee is experiencing difficulties at an early stage, this will 
lead to appropriate help being offered. This, in turn, could mean that the member of 
staff is able to deal with their situation far more effectively. Managers should have a 
sensitive and non-judgemental approach when dealing with employees who have 
experienced domestic violence. Further support can be found in Appendices 2 and 3. 
 
Indications that something might be wrong can be symptomatic of other issues such 
as ill-health. Managers within the council should be looking out for these signs more 
generally. It shouldn’t be assumed that these signs relate to domestic abuse. If there 
is a supportive atmosphere in the workplace, whether in the office, or through team 
activity then it is more likely employees are going to feel comfortable disclosing 
abuse. 
 
Employers should also be aware that people can be subject to domestic abuse whilst 
at work. Considering this possibility is an important part of a thorough employer’s 
response. 
 

b) Changes to look out for 
 
Work Productivity 

• Changes in the person’s working patterns, such as, frequent absence, 
lateness or needing to leave work or meetings early. 

• Reduced quality and quantity of work, missing deadlines, a drop in usual 
performance standards. 

• Change in the use of the phones or email, for example, a large number of 
personal calls or texts, avoiding calls or a strong reaction to calls, texts,  
emails. During working from home this could present as being difficult to get 
hold of or regularly having a partner in the room during meetings  

 

Page 21



 
 

 6 

People Policies 

 
• Spending an increased number of hours at work for no reason. 
• Frequent visits to work by the employee’s partner, which may indicate 

coercive behaviour. 
 
Changes In Behaviour or Demeanour 

• Conduct out of character with previous behaviour. 
• Changes in behaviour, for example, becoming very quiet, anxious, frightened, 

tearful, aggressive, distracted or depressed. 
• Being isolated from colleagues. 
• Secretive about their home life or give reasons not to turn the camera on 

when meeting online.     
• Worried about leaving children at home. 

 
Physical Indicators 

• Visible bruising or single or repeated injury with unlikely explanations. 
• Change in the pattern or amount of make-up worn. 
• Change in the manner of dress, for example, clothes that do not suit the 

climate, which may be used to hide injuries. 
• Substance use/misuse. 
• Fatigue/sleep disorders. 

 
Other Indicators 

• Partner or ex-partner stalking employee in or around the workplace or on 
social media. 

• Isolation form family, friends, colleagues. 
 
Please note that this is not an exhaustive list.  
 

c) Domestic Abuse and the Law 
 
As an employer there are two strands for consideration. First, the legal obligations to 
staff. Second, support the employee may need should their case become subject to 
a criminal investigation. 
 
 
Health and Safety Legislation 
 
Health and Safety laws are designed to ensure that workers have the right to work in 
a safe environment. The employer considers risks to health and wellbeing and deals 
with them effectively. There are four main areas of health and safety legislation in the 
workplace relevant to domestic abuse: 
 

• Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
• Management of Health and Safety at work Regulations 1992 

Page 22



 
 

 7 

People Policies 

• Reporting of injuries, Diseases and Dangerous occurrences Regulations 
1995 

• Health and Safety (consultation with employees) Regulations 1996. An 
effective workplace policy and associated guidance on domestic abuse 
helps to ensure that employers are complying with these laws. This 
extends to people working from home. 

 
Employment Law  
 
Employers have legal responsibility to provide a safe work environment and have a 
duty of care to employees. They have a responsibility to help support and protect 
employees who are experiencing domestic abuse. Employees can request 
Compassionate leave (see policy above for up to 3 days’ paid leave.  
https://intranet.fenland.gov.uk/article/16807/People-Policies 
Managers should consider requests for reasonable time off with pay for employees 
who have disclosed they are experiencing domestic violence. This may be for them 
to arrange appointments during the normal working day. These requests should be 
treated sympathetically. These appointments could include, but are not limited to: 

• Appointments with support agencies 
• Arranging rehousing 
• Meetings with criminal justice agencies e.g. the Police, solicitors,. meetings 

can be held in Fenland District Council’s offices where necessary 
• Making alternative childcare arrangements, including meetings with schools. 

 
Managers should also explore other measures, such as temporary negotiated hours, 
means that by arrangement between the manager and employee, the employee’s 
working hours can be temporarily varied for a specifically agreed period to allow 
them some flexibility while they are dealing with a short-term crisis.   
 
This would generally apply to staff working outside of the flexi system and does not 
extend to allowing an employee to work shorter hours for full time pay, other than as 
allowed for under the emergency leave provisions. 
 
An employee summoned as a witness in a criminal court case will be granted special 
leave.  
 
Individuals leaving a violent partner may face considerable financial hardship. They 
may have concerns about finding suitable accommodation for themselves and their 
family. HR advice should be sought about what appropriate measures can be taken 
to help employees in these circumstances. For example, by referring employees to 
Citizen’s Advice for confidential financial advice, or for financial guidance through the 
Employee Assistance programme. 
 
If the employee has disclosed that their partner has access to their finances or is 
exerting economic pressure upon them, contact the HR team. They can contact 
Payroll to change the method of salary payment. If appropriate and with the 

Page 23



 
 

 8 

People Policies 

employee’s consent, referring the employee to occupational health may also be 
helpful. 
 

d) Domestic Abuse and working from home 
Home is not a safe place for everyone. For those experiencing domestic abuse, 
working from home is more than a shift to video calls. It can mean the removal of 
work as a safe space and escape from their abuser. 
 
The increase in hybrid working means the role of the employer in general, and the 
manager in particular, in tackling abuse has never been so crucial. Employers and 
managers need to respond by considering how they keep in touch with their staff and 
meet their duty of care remotely. 
 
Three actions employers can take: 

1. Daily contact – ensure that no employee goes a full working day without being 
part of at least one call with a colleague. If contact is lost, be prepared to visit 
in person. 

2. Signposting – make links to support services available on the Intranet (need 
to check content) and alert the whole workforce to them. Encourage staff to 
download the ‘Bright Sky’ App on their work mobiles. Ask staff to take ten 
minutes to read about how to respond to a disclosure. 

3. Empower Line Managers – issue written or verbal guidance to line managers 
to alter them to the specific challenges of working from home for those 
experiencing abuse. Task them with demonstrating what steps they are taking 
to look after their teams.  

 
e) Raising Awareness 

The Council is committed to not tolerating abuse against anyone. It is essential that 
the working environment promotes the view that such abuse is unacceptable  
 
It will not be condoned; nor should it be made the subject of jokes or graphics. The 
council will aim to raise awareness through the following measures: 
 

•  Preparation and distribution of information publicising the issues and the 
Council’s policy 

•  Training for all employees through the Council’s e-learning platform 
•  Briefings for other appropriate staff, in particular front line staff and customer 

contact centre staff 
•  Inclusion of issues relating to domestic abuse in relevant in-house training 

sessions and as part of the induction. 
 

f) Duties-Responsibilities 
 Line Managers 

 
It is possible that a manger may become aware that an employee is experiencing 
domestic abuse through associated issues such as attendance management or poor 

Page 24



 
 

 9 

People Policies 

performance. Therefore, they have a crucial role to play in enabling employees 
experiencing domestic abuse to seek help. 
 
The role of the line manager includes the following points. Appendix 2 outlines this in 
more detail. 
 

• Identify employees experiencing difficulties because of domestic abuse. For 
example, using regular one-to-one meetings, or by fostering an open 
management culture that enables team members to disclose sensitive issues. 

• Provide support in the first instance. This includes giving specific advice on 
the options available but also recognising the limitations of their role 
(managers are not professional counsellors or experts).  

• Protect confidentiality so far as is legally appropriate (refer to 
Confidentiality and Security).   

• Refer the individual to the appropriate internal or external sources of help 
and support. 

• Be aware of what support is available and explore these options with the 
employee (a list of support agencies for women and men are attached under 
Appendix 1 – Support agencies). However, if the employee does not want 
you to contact other agencies, you must follow their wishes, unless there is a 
safeguarding concern. 

• Ensure that the safety of all employees in the team is protected. 
• Enable the affected employee to remain productive and at work during a 

difficult period in their domestic life. This may include using the organisation’s 
special leave policies and procedures. 

• It is important that managers provide a non-judgemental and supportive 
environment. Respecting the employee’s boundaries and privacy is essential. 
It is also important to work based on believing the employee so that they feel 
supported. 

• The role of manager is not to deal with the abuse itself but to make it clear 
(through a workplace policy and its associated guidance) that employees will 
be supported and to outline what help is available. 

• It may be that a risk assessment needs to be completed/updated for the 
employee. Support can be given by the Health and Safety advisor and HR. 

 
 

i) The HR Team   
 
The council is dedicated to the health and wellbeing of staff. HR will ensure that the 
appropriate advice and support is available to both staff and managers whenever 
required. 
 
HR will be responsible for the provision of advice and/or support and will assist in the 
signposting and referrals to relevant safeguarding agencies and support 
mechanisms available. These may include Occupational Health, access to 
confidential counselling and other wellbeing services. 

Page 25



 
 

 10 

People Policies 

ii) Employees 
 
All employees of Fenland District Council have a responsibility to support survivors 
of domestic violence and abuse. Employees are responsible for seeking further 
advice and guidance where they are unclear about the application of any aspect of 
this policy or associated guidance. We will respond to everyone’s circumstances on 
a case-by-case basis, and support via a co-ordinated community response as 
needed. 
 
Domestic abuse champions along with member of Management Trade Union & Staff 
Partnership and Mental Health First Aiders may also be approached for assistance 
as well as the Housing Options Team.  
   

g) Training 
 
A corporate Domestic Abuse Training plan is in place including all staff, champions 
and new starters. E-learning for all staff can be accessed from the People XD “ 
 
The purpose of the training plan is to: 

• help meet Fenland District Council’s commitment to raising awareness of and 
tacking domestic abuse in any form 

• enable all Fenland District Council employees to have the awareness, 
confidence, and support to enable them to recognise and respond 
appropriately to incidents of domestic abuse involving customers (and/or 
colleagues in their personal lives). 

• To encourage and promote the development of domestic abuse champions 
within Fenland District Council who can help raise awareness and act as a 
reference point for colleagues seeking advice. 

 
The training plan sets out tiered training for different roles within the council, 
including e-learning, online and face-to-face resources depending on a person’s role.  
 
Some training will be provided to focus on other areas, such as financial 
abuse/coercive control. Training will be reviewed annually and form part of new 
starters welcome to the council. 
 
h) Equal opportunities 
The council is fully committed to taking effective action to eliminate discrimination 
and to advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations in all that we do as 
an employer. We believe that people are entitled to be treated with dignity and 
respect.  
 
We are determined to ensure that both our employees and everyone entitled to use 
our services receive fair and equitable treatment. One way that we can do this is by 
ensuring that those who do not use English as a first language (including if they are 
a user of British Sign Language) still have equal access to our services through the 
provision of interpretation and translating services via Language Line. We are 

Page 26



 
 

 11 

People Policies 

committed to working with our partners and communities to promote good relations 
and to combat prejudice, discrimination, and harassment. In addition, in terms of 
supporting people experiencing domestic abuse, the council recognises that a 
person’s intersectional needs will impact on their experience and the support 
required. The council promotes a range of resources and information via its 
webpages which can support staff and champions access specialised advice. 
 

i) Responding to people causing harm   
Employers have a duty of care to support employees dealing with domestic abuse. 
This sometimes involves an employee causing harm. Employers can be aware of it 
through self-disclosure, sometimes prompted by a violent incident, an allegation, or 
notice through the police. 
 
Managers should be aware of signs that an employee is using abusive behaviours. 
This has been made more challenging since moving to working from home and a 
new hybrid working model becoming the new norm. 
 
However, there remains some signs that employers can look out for: 

• Negative comments made by the abuser about a partner 
• Expressing anger and blaming their partner for issues 
• Constant text messaging or telephoning a partner, or if working remotely, 

referencing their partner’s behaviour 
• Repeated injuries such as scratches, bite marks, bruised knuckles. 

 
There may be any number of reasons for this behaviour. But managers who suspect 
that domestic abuse may be an issue should have the confidence to discuss this with 
the employee. When doing so, they should ensure that their own safety is not 
compromised.  
 
They may take another staff member with them or meet in a public place. If a 
manager believes there is immediate threat to life, the police should be contacted. 
Engaging with people causing harm in a constructive way doesn’t mean excusing the 
abuse, but it is necessary to increase safety and even save lives. 
 
As part of this conversation, it should be highlighted that it absolutely won’t be 
tolerated in any form. They may engage anyone affected by the issue, whether as an 
abuser or being bused, to seek support. Employers should recognise that abusers 
may need help to change their behaviour and should be prepared to encourage 
employees to address violent and abusive behaviours of all kinds, including 
connecting them with relevant front line support services. 
 
The information that managers and Fenland District Council gathers will be the basis 
for its decision about how best to engage with a person causing harm of domestic 
abuse. The information will help determine what kind of intervention or specialist help 
is required, for both the person causing the harm and other employees. Managers 
should beep a confidential record of a disclosure and any actions or decisions that 

Page 27



 
 

 12 

People Policies 

they have taken. Good records may subsequently help in any legal proceedings or 
disciplinary hearing involving the person causing harm.   
   
It is important to remember that it may not be possible to assess whether someone is 
a person causing harm based solely on their outward behaviour. Most people 
causing harm to conceal their abuse by behaving pleasantly to most people. 
 
There are three primary considerations to make in the event of a person causing 
harm disclosing abuse: 
 

1. Reduce the risk for family members - The safety and wellbeing of the 
person experiencing abuse is an urgent priority. Consider what support 
can be provided to them in the workplace, or externally. Connect with 
specialist agencies.   

2. Reduce the risk to other employees – Consider what potential impact the 
person causing harm’s behaviour may have on other employees. Assess 
the risk and take appropriate action to reduce or eliminate the risk. Care 
must always be taken about the disclosure of information to the person 
causing harm. For example, information about where they are, how they 
can be contacted or when they are going home. 

3. If the person causing harm is targeting an employee – Steps must be 
taken to mitigate further risks to the survivor and other employees. These 
may include reassigning duties and restricting the people causing harm 
access to information about the person they are targeting. Some actions 
may require coordination between managers which should be done in 
consultation with the person being abused.   

 
Sometimes the person experiencing abuse and the person causing harm may 
choose to seek solutions jointly, their decisions should be respected and supported 
but managers should not facilitate these discussions. 
 
In discussions about potential support at work, managers should observe the 
following principles: 

• Be clear that abuse is always unacceptable and that it may constitute criminal 
behaviour. Use the legal definition to provide a clear stance from HR. 

• Ensure their own safety is paramount. 
• Be clear that abusive behaviour is a choice 
• Be respectful 
• Be positive. It is possible for people causing harm to change if they recognise 

that they have a problem and take steps to change their behaviour. 
• Be aware that on some level the person causing harm may be unhappy about 

their behaviour. 
• Be aware that domestic abuse is about a range of controlling behaviours not 

just physical violence. 
• Help the person causing harm to be aware of the potential cost of continued 

abuse. This could include arrest, prison, loss of their relationship, long term 
physical and emotional danger to their partner and children, loss of contact 

Page 28



 
 

 13 

People Policies 

being sacked from work, loss of their home, financial losses, damage or loss 
to relationships with family and friends. 

• Don’t mandate a person causing hard of abuse to attend a person causing 
harm programme as part of their disciplinary at work. All programmes require 
the person causing harm to want to change. 

• A manager or HR lead’s job is not to act as a specialist, but to work alongside 
specialist services to help manage the risk for all parties. 

 
In some industries, the behaviour of a person causing harm might need to be 
reported to a regulator, e.g., special rules apply in financial services and serious 
violent and sexual offences should be disclosed to the Financial Conduct Authority.  
If this applies to any employee, then this should be reported. 
 
There might also be a higher obligation to disclose information to the employer or the 
regulator if the employee is charged or convicted for an offence. Employers also 
need to be aware of strict data protection requirements when processing sensitive 
personal data. The legal provisions are complex, and employers can contact the 
DBS or take specialist advice elsewhere. Any employee using abusive behaviours 
should be warned they risk disciplinary action if their conduct does not change.  

Page 29



 
 

 14 

People Policies 

Appendix 2 
 
Support Agencies  
  
If you or someone else is in immediate danger you should call 999. 
 
Here are some key organisations that you might find helpful: 
 
You can contact the National Domestic Abuse Helpline 0808 2000247 if you’re 
experiencing domestic abuse. You can talk confidentially to someone about your 
situation and to find out what your options are. 
 
Everyone experiencing harm through domestic abuse or sexual violence, and people 
who are causing harm, can contact the Domestic Abuse and sexual Violence 
website, where you will find many useful organisations, support networks and 
information. The link to this is Cambridgeshire County Council DASV Partnership - 
Home (cambsdasv.org.uk) 
 
The website has clear guidance for people of all minority groups, and you may select 
appropriate language.  
 
If you are a man experiencing domestic abuse you can contact the Men’s Advice line 
on 0808 8010327. 
 
If you are in a same-sex relationship you can call the national LGBT+ domestic 
Violence helpline 0800 9995428. 
 
In addition, these web pages contain information about local and national support 
agencies who may be able to offer support to people experiencing or perpetrating 
abuse. 
 
Respond to Abuse, Hestia’s free Employer’s advice line and digital tool - call 0203 
8793695 (Monday to Friday 9am – 5pm) or visit Hestia.org 
 
Trade union Support via MTSP - Management Trade Union & Staff Partnership. 
 
You can also speak to any of the council’s designated safeguarding officers: Sarah 
Gove, Phil Hughes or HR 
.

Page 30

https://www.cambsdasv.org.uk/web
https://www.cambsdasv.org.uk/web


 
 

 15 

People Policies 

Appendix 3  
 
Procedures For Managers 
 
Awareness and support in the workplace 
 
1. Introduction 
If you suspect that an employee is experiencing domestic abuse, you should 
facilitate a conversation to discuss this and identify information and support. 
 
Avoiding the subject can perpetuate fear of stigma and likely increase feelings of 
anxiety for the employee. Often employees will not feel confident in speaking up, so 
you make the first move to begin a conversation will be important. 
 
To help you support and advise an employee you must consider the four key stages. 
 
2. Four Key Steps 
 
2.1 Step one – Recognising the problem 
 
Warning signs of domestic abuse are: 
 
Work productivity   

• Change in the employee’s working patterns for example, frequent absence, 
lateness or needing to leave work early. 

• Reduced quality of work for example missing deadlines or drop in usual 
performance standards. 

• Change in the use of the phone/email, for example, a large number of 
personal calls/texts, avoiding calls or a strong reaction to calls, texts or 
emails. 

• Spending an increased number of hours at work for no reason. 
• Frequent visits to work by the employee’s partner, which may be indicative of 

coercive and controlling behaviour. 
 
Changes in behaviour  

• Becoming very quiet, anxious, frightened, tearful, aggressive, distracted or 
depressed. 

• Becoming isolated from work colleagues/not socialising outside of work. 
• Obsessed about leaving work on time. 
• Secretive about home life. 
• Worried about leaving children at home. 

 
Physical indicators 

• Visible bruising or single or repeated injury with unlikely explanation. 
• Change in manner of dress, for example, clothes that do not suit the climate 

which may be used to hide injuries. 

Page 31



 
 

 16 

People Policies 

• Change in the pattern or amount of make-up used.  
These are just a few characteristics, and it is important to remember that different 
people will act in different ways. You know your team best and will have a level of 
awareness to recognise when an employee needs support and help. 
 
2.2 Step 2 - Respond  
It is important that you believe an employee if they disclose experiencing domestic 
abuse, it is not appropriate to ask for proof. You must take a sensitive and non-
judgemental approach when supporting an employee who is a survivor of domestic 
abuse.  
 
This should include: 

• Taking the employee seriously, taking time to listen to them. 
• Ensuring that any discussion about the employee’s situation takes place in 

privacy and that you respect their confidentiality as far as possible (see 
confidentiality in page 5 of the Domestic Abuse Employment procedure) 

• Understand that the employee may not wish to approach you and may prefer 
to involve a third party such as a Domestic Abuse Partnership practitioner, 
colleague, HR or Trade Union representative, or seek support outside of the 
workplace. It may be appropriate to offer the option of speaking to a third 
party who will be able to advise the employee and/or their line manager on 
what measures can be taken.  
 
If an employee does not wish to speak to you, this should be respected, 
however, they should be advised of the difficulties which may arise if you are 
not aware of the relevant facts and circumstances (for instance if there is a 
potential Health and Safety issue or if other action is being taken on 
performance or absence monitoring). 

• Being aware that there may be additional issues faced by the employee 
because of tier age, gender, sexuality, ethnic origin, disability etc. 

• Being non-judgemental as the employee may need some time to decide what 
to do and may try various options during the process. Research has shown 
that it can take a long time to break free from an abusive relationship. It 
should not be assumed therefore, that because an individual returns or stays 
in an abusive relationship that the abuse was not severe or did not take place.  

• Surveys have shown that on average a survivor will suffer serious assault and 
abuse around 35 times before it is reported to the police. 

• Being aware of what support is available and exploring these options with the 
employee. However, if the employee does not want to contact other agencies, 
their wishes must be respected. 

 
There are practical steps you must consider taking when you are aware that an 
employee is a survivor of domestic abuse. Think about the actions within your control 
you can take/put in place to support the employee. The action possible will depend 
on the nature/location of work but could include: 
 

• ensuring that access to buildings is open to authorised employees only 

Page 32



 
 

 17 

People Policies 

• reminding reception staff or switchboard not to divulge information about 
employees, especially personal details such as addresses, telephone 
numbers or shift patterns. 

• offering temporary or permanent changes in workplace, work times and 
patterns, or helping to make the employee less at risk at work and on their 
journey to and from work. This could include changes to office layout to 
ensure that the employee is not visible from reception points or from 
ground floor windows. 

• offering changes in specific duties, such as answering phones or working in 
the reception area, or in exceptional circumstances transfer to another 
post. 

• agreeing what information to disclose to colleagues and how they should 
respond if the abuser rings or calls at the workplace. Providing colleagues 
with a photograph of the abuser and other relevant details such as car 
registration number may help maintain an employee’s security in the 
workplace.  

• Making sure that the systems for recording employee whereabouts during 
the days ae adequate and if the work requires visits outside the office, 
consider how risks can be minimised (for example change duties or allow 
another colleague to accompany them on certain journeys). It may also be 
sensible to think about supplying a personal alarm for the survivor.   

 
You will know what is operationally possible within your service/team and it is the 
Council’s expectation that you consider all reasonable options to support an 
employee and help them at work. 
 
2.3 Step 3 - Refer  
As a supportive manager it is important to be aware of the range of specialist 
agencies available to survivors of domestic abuse both nationally and locally. This 
knowledge will be critical in supporting an employee to see the help available. 
 
Ensure all managers know about: 
Respond to Abuse, Hestia’s free Employer’s advice line and digital tool - call 0203 
8793695 (Monday to Friday 9am – 5pm) or visit Hestia.org. 
 
Who is the advice line for? 
The Respond to Abuse advice line is available to any business or organisation in the 
UK who would like free support, guidance or information regarding domestic abuse  
and how to support employees and colleagues enduring domestic abuse in the 
workplace. 
 
2.4 Step 4 – Record 
If an employee discloses abuse, it is important to record the details of what is said as 
accurately as possible. The detail of information recorded may be limited. 
Should the abuse be subject to criminal proceedings, this is an exhibit and should be 
given to the police. 

Page 33



 
 

 18 

People Policies 

This can be recorded as a file note and saved on the manager’s file. This is not 
automatically shared with HR, only if the employee wants to. 
 
3. Disclosure 
In this context, there is further guidance around how managers or employees may 
respond to disclosure from another employee.  
 
If an employee discloses that they are experiencing domestic abuse, it can be 
challenging for the manager, HR and colleagues.  
 
In the new era of hybrid working, having such a conversation remotely can add to the 
challenge. 
 
The following suggestions may help.  
 
Note, this is not an exhaustive list, but is designed as prompts to help facilitate open 
conversations: 

• Suggest that you go somewhere quiet and comfortable to speak in private. If 
the employee works from home, suggest meeting for a walk or at a safe 
space. 

• Acknowledge the courage of the employee and how difficult it must be to talk.  
Confirm the complete confidentiality of the disclosure. As a guide for 
managers, any information should only be disclosed to anyone else if it is 
absolutely necessary in providing help and support and with the prior 
agreement of the person who has disclosed. Exceptions to that are if the 
manager believes that there is an imminent threat to life, harm of children or 
threat against the employer. At that point, an employer should contact the 
police and follow their advice on next steps. 

• If conversing in person, have an open posture. Be sensitive that they may feel 
threatened by invasion of personal space. If speaking remotely, vocalise that 
you will be led by them on the pace and extent of the conversation. 

• Be prepared for them to be upset and tearful. 
• Do not be judgemental. Avoid language that indicates blame or fault such as 

questions like ‘why don’t you leave’ or ‘why haven’t you told anyone before’.  
• Allow plenty of time and space for them to speak. 
• Contact the domestic abuse lead in HR making it known to the individual that 

you are going to do so, and agreeing what can and cannot be shared, to 
respect confidentiality. 

• Consider what steps might be necessary to ensure they remain safe whether 
in the workplace or working remotely in case a person causing harm suspects 
they may have reported the abuse. 

 
1. Support measures 

Below is a list of support measures that could be taken depending on the needs of 
the individual employee. Any measure used should be with the consent of the 
individual concerned. 
 

Page 34



 
 

 19 

People Policies 

• All staff are responsible for ensuring that access to buildings is open to 
authorised staff only.  

• Offer temporary changes in the workplace, work times and patterns, helping 
to make the employee less at risk at work and on their journeys to and from 
work. This could include changes to the office layout to ensure that the 
employee is not visible from reception points or from ground floor windows. 

• Offer changes in specific duties, such as answering phones or working in 
reception area, or, in exceptional circumstances, transfer to another job of the 
same grade, if available. 

• Agree what to tell colleagues and how they should respond if the abuser 
calls at the workplace. Provide colleagues with a photograph of the abuser 
and other relevant details such as car registration numbers which may help 
them to maintain security in the workplace.  

• Make sure the systems for recording staff whereabouts during the day are 
adequate and if the work requires visits outside the office, consider how risks 
can be minimised (e.g. change duties or allow another colleague to 
accompany them on certain journeys). 

• Record any incidents of abuse in the workplace, including persistent phone 
calls, emails or visits to an employee by their partner/ex-partner. You should 
also take down details of any witnesses to these incidents. These records 
could be used if the employee wants to press charges or apply for an 
injunction against the alleged person causing harm. The employer could also 
apply for an injunction if the action of an alleged person causing harm 
impinges on the health and safety of staff. 

• It is important to also consider the safety of work colleagues and service 
users if the alleged person causing harm has access to the survivor at work, 
whereby work colleagues and/or service users potentially becoming involved 
as a result of an assault on the survivor.  

 
2. Questions to consider  

Questions for the manager to consider in relation to workplace safety and examples 
of workplace adjustments 
 
Questions for the employee 

• Does the alleged abuser know where the employee works? 
• Have they ever been followed on their way to/from work? 
• Is the employee frightened of anything specific that might take place at work 

or on the journey to and from work? 
• Does the abuser have their work email address and/or work telephone 

number? 
• What information can be shared with the wider team or relevant staff to 

ensure any changes are implemented and they can deliver an appropriate 
response? 

 
 
 

Page 35



 
 

 20 

People Policies 

Contact arrangements 
• Retain both a work contact and an emergency contact at home. 
• Arrange in advance when and who to contact if an employee doesn’t come 

into work (family member, police, neighbour etc). 
• Maintain communication with the individual during any absence, while keeping 

their whereabouts confidential from the abuser and other agreed people. 
 
Safety to and from work 

• Change the route to and from work (e.g. different bus or train time). 
• Change the location of where they work or consider a transfer. 
• Change the start and finish time of work hours. 
• Provide a security escort to and from a car/transport links. 

 
Safety while at work 

• Change the locks/codes to enter the workplace. 
• Consider a personal or workstation alarm. 
• Consider an alternative entrance to, or exit from the workplace, with a 

chaperone if required.  
• Consider screening access to the workplace. If possible and required, enable 

reception/security to identify the abuser (such as with a photo and their car 
registration) and advise them on what to do if the abuser arrives at the 
workplace. 

 
Communication safety 

• Review the security of all employee records and personal information. 
• Change email addresses/work phone number or divert incoming phone calls 

and emails. 
• Issue instructions to all staff not to reveal employees’ personal details or their 

whereabouts to anyone, including family members. 
 
Managing responsibilities at work  

• Consider flexible working or changing work patterns. 
• Adjust workload (extend deadlines, reassign responsibilities). 
• Consider additional support/supervision/debriefing sessions. 
• Provide special leave or time off during the day to attend appointments or 

court etc. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 July 2025 

Page 36



 
 
 
 
1.0  Purpose / Summary 
1.1 This report provides the Employment Committee with an overview of the 

Council’s Health & Safety performance for 2024/25. 
 
1.2 To enable effective management of health and safety, an employer is required 

to monitor and review its performance.  The purpose of this annual report is to 
comment on the Council’s health and safety performance during the period April 
2024 – March 2025. 

 
1.3 The scope of this report covers the key activities of updating / reviewing Council 

health and safety guidance documentation, accident statistics, health and 
safety training, occupational health (health surveillance) and a review of the 
progress with the Health and Safety Action Plan. 

 
 
2.0  Key Issues 
2.1  The Council has seen continued performance in health and safety, some of 
 the key points within the report are:   
 

• The total number of accidents has decreased to 17 recorded during the year 
(compared to 26 the previous year). 

• There was one injury/incident classed as ‘reportable injuries’ requiring reporting 
to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE). 

• The ongoing delivery of the Council’s health and safety training programme, 
with 113 staff receiving various corporate health and safety training. 

• A programme continues to review/update the Council’s Health and Safety 
Codes of Practice, to ensure they remain suitable and sufficient for use. 

• Progress of the Health and Safety Action Plan (to 31 March 2025) and a 
summary of the work planned for 2025/2026 are included.  

 
 

Agenda Item 
No: 8  

Committee: Employment Committee 

Date:  18 July 2025 

Report Title: Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



3 Recommendations 
3.1 Employment Committee to note the Council’s performance for 2024/25 in the 

report, which has previously been presented to the Corporate Management 
Team and the Health and Safety Panel. 

 
 
Wards Affected All 

Forward Plan 
Reference 

N/A 

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Chris Boden – Leader of the Council 
 

Report Originator(s) Sam Anthony - Head of HR, OD & Customer Services 
Email: santhony@fenland.gov.uk 
 
Tel: 01354 622268 

Contact Officer(s) Sam Anthony - Head of HR, OD & Customer Services 
Email: santhony@fenland.gov.uk 
Tel: 01354 622268 
 
Peter Catchpole – Corporate Director & Section 151 
Officer 
Email: petercatchpole@fenland.gov.uk 
Tel: 01354 622201 

Background Papers N/A 

 

Page 38

mailto:dvincent@fenland.gov.uk
mailto:santhony@fenland.gov.uk
mailto:petercatchpole@fenland.gov.uk


 

 
Corporate Health and Safety  

Annual Report  
 

2024-2025 
 
 

Page 39



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 2 

 
 

CONTENTS 
 
1.0 Executive Summary........................................................................................................... 3 

 1.1 Progress against the Health and Safety Action Plan 2024/25 ........................................ 3 

2.0 Key Activities ..................................................................................................................... 3 

 2.1 E-learning Health and Safety Courses ........................................................................... 3 

 2.2 Codes of Practice Review .............................................................................................. 4 

 2.3 Training ......................................................................................................................... 4 

 2.4 Health and Safety Emergencies ..................................................................................... 5 

       2.4.1 Fire Safety ............................................................................................................ 5 

       2.4.2 First Aid ................................................................................................................ 5 

       2.4.3 Mental Health First Aiders ..................................................................................... 6 

 2.5 Health and Safety Panel ................................................................................................ 6 

 2.6 Occupational Health ...................................................................................................... 6 

3.0 Performance ...................................................................................................................... 7 

 3.1 Accident Totals by Kind ................................................................................................. 7 

 3.2. Accident Totals by Service ............................................................................................ 8 

 3.3 RIDDOR Reports ........................................................................................................... 9 

 3.4 Total Annual Lost Working Days .................................................................................... 9 

 3.5 Accidents – Members of Public .................................................................................... 10 

 3.6 Work Related Ill-Health Days Lost ............................................................................... 10 

 3.7 Conclusions from Accident Data .................................................................................. 10 

4.0 Health and Safety Performance to March 2025 ............................................................. 10 

5.0 Health and Safety Actions for 2025/26 ........................................................................... 10 

App 1  Health and Safety Action Plan 2024/25 .......................................................................... 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 40



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 3 

Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 
 

2024/2025 
 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report is a statement of Fenland District Council’s health and safety performance to the end of 
the financial year 2024/2025 and of its intentions regarding health and safety for the year 2025/26. 
It demonstrates that Fenland District Council shows strong commitment to the health and safety of 
its workforce and to others who may be affected by its activities. 

The Council employs approximately 355 employees (full and part-time) which equates to 296.5 full-
time employees (FTE) in varied roles across all services with exposure to varied levels of risk. All 
work activities are risk assessed, and these risk assessments are reviewed each year by the relevant 
service manager. 

Health and safety support to the Council is provided from a number of sources, which include 
professionally qualified officers, the Corporate Management Team, line managers and the Council’s 
Health and Safety  

 

1.1 Progress against the Health and Safety Action Plan 2024/25 

Good progress has been made over the last 12 months to deliver our objectives as set out in the 
health and safety action plan for 2024/2025, see Action Plan (Appendix 1) for full details. Some of 
the actions are highlighted below: 

• The roll out of health and safety e-learning courses developed for staff training. 
• An analysis of all accidents and their consequent actions has been undertaken. 
• The Accident Incident Rate (based on 100 per employees) was 5.96, which is a decrease of 

1.75 on the previous year. 
• Health and Safety corporate training was delivered to a total of 113 staff. 
• An ongoing programme of audits and inspections have been undertaken. 
• We have also delivered a quarterly focus on specific health and safety topics throughout the 

year to raise awareness and understanding amongst the workforce. Topics have included 
lone working, stress awareness, mental health awareness and wellbeing.  

 
 
2. KEY ACTIVITIES 
 
2.1 Relaunch of new e-learning Health and Safety Courses 
 
Following the full implementation of the Council’s new HR/Payroll system, we have now rolled out a 
new, comprehensive and increased range of health and safety training materials to further upskill 
our workforce. A number of these courses are designated as mandatory (depending on the nature 
of the service/team involved). 
 
The following courses are now available on the Council’s e-learning platform: 
 

• Spill Prevention & Control 
• Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH) 
• Safeguarding Children  
• Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults  
• Bomb Threats and Suspicious Packages 

Page 41



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 4 

• Display Screen Equipment (DSE) and Workstation Safety 
• Fire Safety and Procedures 
• Electrical Safety Refresher 
• The Highway Code (2022 Changes) 
• First Aid in the Workplace 
• Health & Wellbeing 
• Manual Handling 
• Stress Awareness 
• Fire Safety  
• Health & Safety Introduction 
• Mould, Damp & Condensation 
• Noise Awareness 
• Norovirus 
• Office Safety Refresher 
• Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) Refresher 
• Security & Terrorism Awareness 
• Violence & Aggression in the Workplace 
• Working with Young People 
• Young People at Work 
• Electrical Safety 
• First Aid (Refresher) 
• Driving Safety 
• Health & Safety for Homeworkers 
• Lone Working 
• Slips, Trips & Falls 
• Supporting Wellbeing & Attendance 
• Health & Safety in the Home 
• Induction Safety 
• Moving and Falling Objects  
• Noise Awareness (Refresher) 
• Office Safety 
• Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
• Provision & Use of Work Equipment Regulations (PUWER) 
• Stepladder & Ladder Safety 
• Virus Prevention & Protection 
• Workplace Safety 
• Accident Investigation 
• Managing Mould, Damp & Condensation 
• Risk Assessments 
• Building a Health & Safety Culture  
• Health & Safety for Managers 
• Introduction to Health & Safety Audits 
• Accident Reporting (RIDDOR) 
• Fire Wardens 
• Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEP) 
• Business Continuity 
• Health & Safety for Directors  
• Respiratory Illness & Pandemic Awareness 
• Managing Contractors 
• Accident Reporting (RIDDOR) Refresher 
• Hot Weather Conditions 
• Steward Training 
• Working at Height 
• Construction Design Management Regulations 

Page 42



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 5 

• Legionella 
• Winter Weather Awareness 
• Hand Arm Vibration 
• Safe Movement of Vehicles 

 
2.2 Codes of Practice (COP) Review 
 
A key part of the function of Corporate Health and Safety is the provision of policies, codes of practice 
(COPs) and guidance to provide managers and employees with the necessary support to meet their 
health and safety obligations. The Council has a programme of ongoing review and implementation 
to support effective health and safety management. The below COPs were revised/implemented 
during the year:  
 

• Legionella 
• Security Threats 
• Noise at Work 
• Accident – Near Miss Reporting 
• Lone Working 
• Fire Safety 
• Electrical Safety 
• Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH) 
• Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)  

 
2.3 Training  
 
Health and safety training needs are identified in several ways including springboards, regular one 
to ones, team meetings and through the Council’s Health and Safety Panel. A corporate health and 
safety matrix has been developed (which is available on the health and safety intranet pages), this 
details all courses available either via e-learning, internally or externally delivered and which courses 
are applicable to specific services/teams.  
 
With the full implementation of the new HR/Payroll system, we are able to now monitor and track the 
completion of all mandatory training (as referred to above). 
 
A rolling training programme is produced for the year, which takes into consideration training needs 
identified in 1:1’s and provides refresher training on a regular basis and courses for new employees. 
The following health and safety training was delivered during the year. 
 

Course Type 
 

Numbers 
Trained 

Comment  

Conflict Management 
 
 

0 
59 via e-
learning 

Skills and confidence for dealing with conflict and 
risk situations staff can face in their work (lone 
working / reception desks) 

Display Screen Equipment 
Assessor  

0 Knowledge and skills in how to set up workstations 
correctly and the health associated issues that can 
be encountered. 

EVAC Chair Use 0 How to use an EVAC Chair safely and correctly. 
The course enables staff to have hands-on 
experience in operating and deploying the chair 
and provides guidance on the safe evacuation of 
the mobility impaired. 

Managing Challenging Phone 
Calls 

0 
45 via e-
learning 

Skills, confidence, and strategies in managing 
angry and demanding customers over the 
telephone. 

Page 43



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 6 

First Aid at Work Re-
qualification 
(2-day course) 

0 Competence to maintain as a qualified First Aider. 

Emergency First Aid at Work 9 Competence to administer emergency first aid to 
someone who is injured or becomes ill whilst at 
work. 

 
Training is also supported by on-the-job training within all service areas, but especially at the higher 
risk sites such as the BASE and Wisbech Port. Training at the BASE is delivered in several ways 
including ‘Toolbox Talks’ which are brief practical sessions for employees on site.  
 
Other types of training also include for example induction training specific to the job role, tasks and 
equipment used, driver CPC training and reversing assistant training. The aim of the training is to 
ensure that the job is carried out in the correct safe manner to maintain safe working practices and 
reduce the accident rate.  
 
 
2.4 Health and Safety Emergencies 
 
2.4.1 Fire Safety 
 
The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 requires employers to have a strategy to evacuate 
all occupants within a building. As part of the Council’s fire safety arrangements nominated staff are 
trained either as Fire Wardens or in the use of fire extinguishers. They perform essentially two roles, 
ongoing assessment of fire hazards and risks during their normal daily work tasks, and in the event 
of an evacuation conduct a sweep of their allocated fire zone to ensure all persons have safely 
evacuated. 
 
All Council occupied buildings undergo a six-monthly no-notice fire evacuation drill to test response 
and procedures. 
 
We have also fully reviewed and updated our fire evacuation procedures in relation to our Business 
Centres. 
 
 
2.4.2 First Aid 
 
The Health and Safety (First-Aid) Regulations 1981 require employers to provide adequate and 
appropriate equipment, facilities and personnel to ensure their employees receive immediate 
attention if they are injured or taken ill at work. 
 
As part of this requirement, the Council provides two levels of first aid trained staff in its buildings. At 
Fenland Hall and the BASE, staff are fully trained First Aiders and are required to undergo three 
days initial training with re-qualification every three years. 
 
At the Business Centres, staff are trained in Emergency First Aid at Work, which is a one-day training 
course with re-qualification every three years. They also provide additional support at Fenland Hall. 
In addition to the above training, annual re-fresher first aid training is also provided.  
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 7 

Numbers of First Aid Trained Staff 
 

Location 
 

First Aider Qualified Emergency First Aid 
at Work Qualified 

Fenland Hall 
 

6 14 

BASE 
 

3 9 

Business Centres 
 

2 8 
 

 
2.4.3 Mental Health First Aiders 
 
A total of 53 staff from across the Council have been trained and accredited by Mental Health First 
Aid England to assist staff who are experiencing mental health issues. 
 
A Mental Health First Aider is trained to be able to:  
 

• Understand the important factors affecting mental ill.  
• Identify the signs and symptoms for a range of mental health conditions.  
• Listen non-judgementally and hold supportive conversations using the Mental Health First 

Aid action plan. 
• Signpost people to professional help. 

 
2.5 Health and Safety Panel 
 
Health and safety committees give a structured approach to consultation.  They provide a forum 
where management and employees can work together to resolve any health and safety issues. 
Within the Council we have the Health and Safety Panel which meets quarterly, this is chaired by a 
Corporate Director, and comprises the Head of Human Resources, Health and Safety / Emergency 
Planning Manager, and 13 workplace “health and safety champions” across the Council including 
Trade Union representatives. 
 
The Panel approves codes of practice, reports and supports the Corporate Health and Safety / 
Emergency Planning Manager in determining the Council’s priorities in health and safety. 
 
2.6 Occupational Health  
 
The external Occupational Health provider has continued to meet the organisation’s requirements 
for dealing with and promoting health at work issues. The core functions of Occupational Health are 
work-health assessment screening, sickness absence management and health promotion.  
 
We work closely with the Occupational Health Advisor to provide a proactive health surveillance 
programme to required staff following the risk assessment process.  This is based on a two-yearly 
programme of health surveillance checks, consisting of skin surveillance, hand-arm vibration, 
audiometry, vision screening and general life-style well-being checks. The services that are part of 
the health surveillance checks, and number of staff assessed during the reporting year were as 
follows: 
 
Team Number of Staff Assessed 
Environmental Services (drivers) 6 
Street Scene 1 
Vehicle Workshop 0 
Marine Services 0 
Other FDC commercial vehicle drivers 1 

Page 45



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 8 

3. PERFORMANCE 
 
3.1 Accident Totals by Kind 
 
The table below sets out the accident figures by kind. 
 

Accident 
Kind 

Annual 
Total 

2019/20 

Annual 
Total 

2020/21 

Annual 
Total 

2021/22 

Annual 
Total 

2022/23 

Annual 
Total 

2023/2024 

Annual 
Total 

2024/25 

Benchmark 
East 

Cambs DC 
2024/25 

Contact with 
machinery 

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 

Struck by 
object 

0 0 3 0 2 0 2 

Struck by 
moving 
vehicle 

1 0 1 0 1 0 0 

Struck 
against fixed 
object 

1 4(2*) 0 2 0 0 1 

Slip, trip, fall 
same level 

5(1*) 9(3*) 6 8(2*) 7(1*) 7(1*) 1 

Lifting & 
handling 
injuries 

4(1*) 1(1*) 4 4 7(2*) 4 1 

Injured by an 
animal  

1 1 2 2 0 1 2 

Fall from 
height 

0 1 0 2(1*) 0 0 0 

Physical 
Assault 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Contact with 
electricity 
 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Exposed to 
fire/explosion 

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 

Exposure 
harmful 
substance 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other Kinds / 
Unspecified 

5 5 2 0 9(1*) 3 7 

Total  
 

17(2*) 21(6*) 18 18(3*) 26(4*) 17(1*) 14 (0*) 

Incident 
Rate  
per 100 FTE 
employees 

6.17 7.55 6.31 6.31 7.71 5.96 8.71 

Near Miss 
Reports 

2 0 6 4 1 1 N/A 

 *RIDDORS (reportable injuries) 
 
Key points to consider from the figures presented in the above table are: 
 

• The total number of accidents over the past year has decreased by 9 as the previous year 
with a total of 17 accidents recorded.  The largest cause of accidents was ‘Slips/Trips with 6 
incidents, followed by ‘Manual handling’ with 4 incidents and ‘Other kinds/unspecified’ with 3 
incidents.  

• The Incident Rate gives a more accurate benchmark of accident statistics and is calculated 
based on the accident rate per 100 employees (This has decreased to 5.96 from 7.71) 

• Despite a programme to raise awareness of Near Misses the number reported has stayed 
the same in 2024/2025.  

 
 

Page 46



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 9 

3.2 Accident Totals by Service and Teams 
 
Corporately the number of accidents reported by employees and agency staff within each service is 
set out in the following table: 
 

Service Annual 
Total 

2019/20 

Annual 
Total 

2020/21 

Annual 
Total 

2021/22 

Annual 
Total 

2022/23 

Annual 
Total 

2023/24 

Annual 
Total 

2024/25 
Communities, 
Environment 
Leisure & Planning 

13 18 13 14 21 14 

Property Assets & 
Major Projects 

1 1 2 0 0 0 

Marine Services 
 

0 0 0 1 0 1 

Policy & 
Governance  

0 0 1 1 0 0 

People, Resources 
& My Fenland 

3 2 2 2 5 2 

Total 
 

17 21 18 18 26 17 

 
As the largest service within the Council, (Communities, Environment, Leisure & Planning) remains 
the service with the most reported accidents with 17 reported accidents during the year, 14 of which 
were within Environmental Services (not including Near Miss reports).   
 

Breakdown of Accidents by Teams 2024/25 
Team Accident kind Total number of incidents 

Environmental Services  Manual Handling 4 
Slip/Trip 4 

Other 2 
 Exposure to fire 1 

  
Streetscene 
 

Slips/Trips 1 
Other 2 

Reprographics Contact with machinery 1 
Marine Services Slip/Trip 1 
Member of public Slip/trip 1 
   

 
 
3.3 Reportable RIDDOR injuries, illnesses and dangerous occurrences involving 
Council employees. 
 

Type Annual 
Total 

2019/20 

Annual 
Total 

2020/21 

Annual 
Total 

2021/22 

Annual 
Total 

2022/23 

Annual 
Total 

2023/24 

Annual 
Total 

2024/25 

East 
Cambs 

DC 
2024/25 

RIDDOR 
Accidents 

2 6 0 3 4 1 0 

 
These figures are for injuries, illnesses and dangerous occurrences that are reportable to the Health 
and Safety Executive (HSE). During 2024/25 there was 1 accident that was reportable to the HSE 
(over 7 Day Injuries), which did not require further investigation by the HSE.  
 

Page 47



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 10 

Where RIDDOR accidents do occur, they are subject to an internal health and safety investigation 
which is undertaken to identify the causes and make recommendations for any required control 
measures where appropriate. 
 
3.4 Total annual lost working days  
 

Type Annual 
Total 

2019/20 

Annual 
Total 

2020/21 

Annual 
Total 

2021/22 

Annual 
Total 

2022/23 

Annual 
Total 

2023/24 

Annual 
Total 

2024/25 
Number of 
work-related 
days lost 

148 87 11 88 133 211 

 
The number of days absent from work because of an accident whilst at work has shown an increase 
over the past year to a total of 211 days, which was a combined total for 4 members of staff. 205 of 
these days were due to a Road traffic accident and an Achilles tendon injury (neither of these were 
reportable). 
 
The table below gives the number of lost working days for each individual accident, including 
accident kind and the service. 
 

Accident Kind Lost Working Days Service 
Slip/trip or fall. 
 

2.5 Environmental Services 

 
Manual Handling. 

 
133.5* 

 
Environmental Services 

 
Other. 

 
75 

 
Streetscene 

 
 

  

 
 

  

*RIDDOR Reportable 
 
 
3.5 Accidents involving Members of the Public (Work Related) 
 

Type 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Tivoli 
 

2024/25 

Freedom 
Leisure 
2024/25 

 Public 
 
 

0 1 0 1 2 1 0 0 

   *RIDDOR  
 
Injuries in connection with work activities involving members of the public have remained low over 
the past few years; with 1 recorded during 2024/25. Where these have occurred, they predominately 
involve slips/trips and falls occurring on Council properties or playgrounds.  Action has been taken 
to address the causes of these accidents where reasonably practicable to reduce the risks of similar 
incidents from occurring in the future. 
 
 
3.6 Conclusions from Accident Data 
 
Accident statistics have decreased in the last 12 months. An analysis of the accident information has 
not indicated any trends.  The majority of these accidents have occurred in our Environmental 

Page 48



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 11 

Service team, and so we will be continuing with the focus on refresher training programme in this 
area in due course.   
 
We had 1 reportable RIDDOR injury during the past year. Slips, Trips and falls are the biggest 
contributor to our accident statistics, with Lifting & handling injuries numbers having decreased, and 
Other Kinds/unspecified have also decreased on last year. 
 
Training and other interventions remain in place to address the areas of highest injury. We also 
continue to focus on areas which are generally not contributing to the accident statistics, but which 
have great potential to cause serious injury and must therefore not be overlooked. Such areas 
include asbestos/legionella management, fire safety and contractor management. 
 
 
4.  HEALTH AND SAFETY PERFORMANCE TO MARCH 2025 
 
An ongoing Action Plan to monitor the corporate health and safety goals is established. The goals 
established for 2024/25 and the extent to which they have been met is set out in Appendix 1.  
 
Work continues to drive forward improvements in health and safety management where required. 
 
 
5.  HEALTH AND SAFETY ACTIONS FOR 2025/2026 
 
In 2025/26 the emphasis will be to continue to support managers and staff to continue good 
standards of health and safety, provide refresher training and upskilling in areas where there has 
been a high accident rate. 
 
A summary of some of the work planned for 2025/2026 is provided below: 
 

• Continue to review and update of the Council’s Codes of Practice as required under the three 
yearly revision programme, and/or as a result of any legislative changes. 

• Delivery of the ongoing corporate health and safety training programme. 
• Conduct accident investigations as applicable and continue to build management skills in 

conducting these investigations.  
• Coordinate delivery of a health surveillance programme across the Council. 
• Development of e-learning training courses for the Council’s new e-learning platform. 
• Undertake audits/inspections of individual services/teams/buildings as per the audit 

programme. 
• Continue to update intranet-based health and safety information for staff use. 
• To deliver a programme of proactive health and welfare events across the Council. 
• Conduct a review of the Council’s lone worker devices. 
• Update the Council’s Driving at Work regulations and associated policies. 
• Development and consideration of additional people-centred leading indicators. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 12 

Appendix 1 - Health and Safety Action Plan for 2024/2025   
 
KEY - RAG indicator 
  No action yet taken 
  Action progressing towards completion 
  Action completed 

Progress Against Action Plan (to March 2024) 

Action 
 

Progress Status Target Date 

Delivery of a corporate health and safety 
training programme across the Council. 
 

Training programme delivered during the past year; 
refer to page four of this report for further details. 

Completed March 2025 

Undertake audits in line with the Council’s 
health and safety audit programme. 
Dependent on the service risks, the audit is 
either undertaken by the Health and Safety 
Manager or self-completed and submitted by 
the Head of Service for assessment. 
 

Health and Safety audit were completed for the 
following services: 
 

• Housing & Community Support 
• Refuse & Cleansing 
• Property, Assets & Major Projects 

Completed March 2025 

Launch of new suite of comprehensive 
Health and Safety e-learning courses.  A 
number of these are mandatory for staff 
dependent on their roles/levels. 

 
Launch of the e-learning is complete. 
Completion of mandatory training is underway and 
being monitored by the HR team 
 
 

Completed March 2025 

Co-ordinate meetings of the Council’s Health 
and Safety Panel including setting agenda 
items etc. 

Quarterly meetings held, refer to page six of this 
report for further details. Production of agendas, 
accident statistics, reports etc are required for each 
meeting. 

Completed. March 2025 

Marine Services – participate in the Port 
Management Group and undertake an 
annual International Ships and Port Security 
(ISPS) audit of the Port of Wisbech. 

Bi-monthly meetings of the Port Management 
Group are held, with agenda and minutes 
produced. The ISPS audit assesses security and 
control measures in place at Port of Wisbech and is 
undertaken on an annual basis.  

Completed. March 2025 

Implement/review and update the Council’s 
health and safety codes of practice on a 
three yearly programme or as required to 
comply with legislation requirements. 

Codes of practice implemented/reviewed to comply 
with legislation requirements  

Completed. March 2025 P
age 50



Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25 13 

Update and improve intranet-based health 
and safety information for staff use. 
 
 

Review of information held on intranet underway, 
future improvements will need to be completed in 
conjunction with the HR team. 

Continue to review and update 
information held/displayed. 

Ongoing 

 
 

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 53

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Previous minutes
	7 Domestic Abuse Support (employee) Policy and Procedure
	Employment Committee Report DAHA Policy
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key Issues
	3 Recommendations
	4 BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES
	5 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
	CONSULTATION
	6 IMPLICATIONS

	Schedule A Assessing_ECIA - Domestic Abuse policy
	Schedule B Domestic Abuse Support (Employee) Policy

	8 Health and Safety Annual Report 2024/25
	Employment Committee H & S Annual Report Final
	1.0  Purpose / Summary
	2.0  Key Issues
	3 Recommendations
	Sam Anthony - Head of HR, OD & Customer Services

	Health and Safety Annual Report 2024-25 Final version
	Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report
	2024/2025
	1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	The table below sets out the accident figures by kind.
	*RIDDORS (reportable injuries)
	3.3 Reportable RIDDOR injuries, illnesses and dangerous occurrences involving Council employees.
	These figures are for injuries, illnesses and dangerous occurrences that are reportable to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE). During 2024/25 there was 1 accident that was reportable to the HSE (over 7 Day Injuries), which did not require further i...
	3.4 Total annual lost working days
	Appendix 1 - Health and Safety Action Plan for 2024/2025

	Numbers Trained
	Course Type
	First Aider Qualified
	Location


	10 Economic Growth Service - Confidential

